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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
To the Shareholders of Jaguar Mining Inc.
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Jaguar
Mining Inc., which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at
December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, the consolidated statements of
operations and comprehensive income (loss), changes in shareholders’ equity and
cash flows for the years then ended, and notes, comprising a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.
Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these
consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements
based on our audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally
accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts
and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected
depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.
In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

KPMG LLP is a Canadian limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG
Network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative
(“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. KPMG Canada provides services to KPMG LLP
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Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the consolidated financial position of Jaguar Mining Inc. as at December 31,
2015 and December 31, 2014, and its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards.

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants

March 21, 2016
Toronto, Canada

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at December 31, 2015 and 2014
(Expressed in thousands of US dollars)

December 31,
2015
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Inventory
Recoverable taxes
Other accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses and advances
Derivatives assets
Total Current Assets
Non‐current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Mineral exploration projects
Recoverable taxes
Other assets
Total assets
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Notes payable
Reclamation provisions
Derivatives liabilities
Other provisions and liabilities
Total Current Liabilities
Non‐current liabilities
Notes payable
Deferred income taxes
Other taxes payable
Reclamation provisions
Other provisions and liabilities
Other liabilities
Total liabilities
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Capital Stock
Warrants
Stock options
Deferred shares units
Contributed surplus
Deficit
Hedging Reserve
Total shareholders' equity
Financial liabilities and other commitments
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity
Subsequent events
On behalf of the Board:
(signed) “Richard Falconer”

$
Note 4
Note 5

Note 13

Note 6
Note 7
Note 5
$

Note 8 $
Note 9
Note 11
Note 12

Note 9
Note 10
Note 11
Note 12
$

Note 13
Note 13
Note 13
Note 13

15,319
12,038
3,161
398
1,904
1,648
34,468
107,817
24,792
13,186
3,146
183,409

12,991
13,582
578
‐
5,338
32,489
27,574
2,475
104
14,063
13,919
‐
90,624

December 31,
2014

$

$

$

$

434,469
202
802
1,380
18,768
(364,048)
1,212
92,785

Note 13

7,161
19,175
10,614
1,636
1,639
‐
40,225
63,773
68,544
21,368
1,354
195,264

16,049
29,413
1,202
197
16,605
63,466
1,538
8,338
101
20,172
‐
61
93,676

434,465
‐
525
965
18,666
(352,836)
(197)
101,588

Note 20
$

183,409

$

195,264

Note 16
(signed) “Rodney Lamond”

The a ccompa nyi ng notes a re a n i ntegra l pa rt of thes e a nnua l cons ol i da ted fi na nci a l s ta tements .
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
For the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014
(Expressed in thousands of US dollars)

Year Ended
December 31,
2015
2014
Gold Sales
Cost of sales
Gross profit (loss)
Exploration and evaluation costs
Care and maintenance costs (Paciencia mine)
Stock‐based compensation
General and administration expenses
Restructuring costs
Amortization
Adjustment to legal and VAT provisions
Impairment reversal
Impairment charges
Other operating expenses
Operating gain (loss)
Foreign exchange loss (gain)
Financial instruments loss (gain)
Finance costs
Other non‐operating expenses (recoveries)
Income (loss) before income taxes
Current income tax expense (recovery)
Deferred income tax expense (recovery)
Total income tax expense (recovery)
Net income (loss)
Other comprehensive income (loss)
Total comprehensive income (loss)
Earnings per share
Income (loss) per share
Basic
Diluted
Weighted average shares outstanding
Basic
Diluted

$
Note 15

Note 16
Note 17
Note 17

Note 18
Note 19

Note 10

Note 14
Note 14

$
$

106,513 $
(83,846)
22,667

116,362
(120,952)
(4,590)

108
1,016
798
10,863
723
77
10,933
(43,979)
48,323
2,296
(8,491)

280
2,181
1,557
12,919
11,231
1,062
(3,295)
‐
88,938
7,426
(126,889)

(5,608)
(171)
10,933
(126)
(13,519)
1,327
(3,634)
(2,307)
(11,212)
1,577
(9,635)

174
(272,818)
12,479
(315)
133,591
(9)
2,737
2,728
130,863
(565)
130,298

(0.10) $
(0.10) $
111,125,695
111,125,695

1.69
1.64
77,323,349
79,997,967

The a ccompa nyi ng notes a re a n i ntegra l pa rt of thes e a nnua l cons ol i da ted fi na nci a l s ta tements .
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014
(Expressed in thousands of US dollars)
Year Ended
December 31,
2015
2014
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net (loss) income for the year
Adjusted for non‐cash items:
Unrealized foreign exchange gain
Stock‐based compensation expense
Interest expense
Accretion of interest expense
Reclamation recovery
Change in fair value of convertible debentures
Deferred income tax (recovery) expense
Depreciation and amortization
(Gain) loss on disposition of property, plant and equipment
Write‐down of inventory
Impairment reversal
Impairment charges
Provision (recovery) for VAT and other taxes
Legal provisions
Gain on debt forgiveness
Gain on Vale note amendment
Loss on Renvest amendment
Finder warrants issued
Unrealized loss (gain) on option component of notes
Reclamation expenditure

$

Note 19
Note 19
Note 11
Note 19
Note 10 (a)

Note 4
Note 17
Note 17
Note 16
Note 16
Note 18
Note 18
Note 13 (b)

Adjusted for changes in non‐cash operating assets and liabilities:
Inventory
Other accounts receivable
Recoverable taxes
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Taxes payable
Other provisions and liabilities
Other liabilities
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Share issuance
Repayment of Renvest credit facility
Repayment of Vale debt
Repayment of bank indebtedness
Proceeds from issuance of convertible debentures
Decrease in restricted cash
Interest paid
Net cash provided by financing activities
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Mineral exploration projects
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposition of property, plant and equipment
Net cash used in investing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period

Note 7

$

(11,212) $

130,863

(10,217)
798
2,949
1,128
(2,903)
4,821
(3,634)
16,596
(12)
35
(43,979)
48,323
568
10,365
‐
‐
‐
202
(3)
(339)
13,486

(425)
1,557
9,220
3,259
‐
‐
2,737
31,583
194
1,566
‐
88,938
(16,895)
13,600
(265,566)
(6,769)
400
‐
(343)
(650)
(6,731)

5,469
366
10,345
(1,185)
(3,197)
3
(971)
(67)
24,249

1,045
4,657
581
(252)
(1,159)
(6)
(4,980)
5
(6,840)

‐
(14,400)
(500)
(1,826)
21,500
‐
(2,406)
2,368

50,000
(16,600)
(250)
(907)
‐
109
(5,615)
26,737

(494)
(18,367)
162
(18,699)

(659)
(21,762)
720
(21,701)

240
8,158
7,161
15,319

(50)
(1,854)
9,015
7,161

$

The a ccompa nyi ng notes a re a n i ntegra l pa rt of thes e a nnua l cons ol i da ted fi na nci a l s ta tements .
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
For the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014
(Expressed in thousands of US dollars)

Common Shares
Shares

Amount

Balance as at January 1, 2014
Share consolidation
Shares issued
Shares issuance cost
Options cancelled
Stock options
Deferred share units
Realized gain on statement of operations
Other comprehensive income
Net income
Balance as at December 31, 2014

86,396,356 $
(85,396,429)
110,111,111
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
111,111,038 $

371,077
‐
77,591
(14,203)
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
434,465

Balance as at January 1, 2015
Shares issued
Warrants issued
Stock options
Options cancelled
Deferred share cancelled
Deferred share units
Realized gain on statement of operations
Other comprehensive income
Net loss
Balance as at December 31, 2015

111,111,038 $
25,000
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
111,136,038 $

434,465
4
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
434,469

1.

Warrants
Units
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
6,607,833
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
6,607,833

Amount

Options

$

1,604,028
‐
‐

$
$

$

Deferred Shares Units Contributed
Surplus
Amount
Units
Amount

Deficit

$

17,638
‐
‐

(483,699)
‐
‐

1,028
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
18,666

‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
130,863
$ (352,836) $

Stock Options

‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
202
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
202

917
‐
‐

(1,604,028)
(917)
2,679,735
525
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
2,679,735 $ 525
2,679,735
‐

$

7,000,000
(400,000)
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
9,279,735 $

‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
1,600,566
‐
‐
‐
1,600,566

‐
‐
‐

$
$

‐
‐
965
‐
‐
‐
965
965
‐

$

$

525
‐

1,600,566
‐

$

319
(42)
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
802

‐
‐
‐
‐
(100,000)
(64)
3,000,000
479
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
4,500,566 $ 1,380 $

Hedging
Reserve 1

18,666 $ (352,836) $
(4)
‐
‐
42
64
‐
‐
‐
‐
18,768

508
‐
‐

Total Equity

$

(93,559)
‐
77,591
(14,203)
‐
111
‐
525
‐
965
(140)
(140)
(565)
(565)
‐
130,863
(197) $ 101,588
(197)
‐

$ 101,588
‐
202
‐
‐
319
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
479
‐
(168)
(168)
‐
1,577
1,577
(11,212)
‐
(11,212)
92,785
$ (364,048) $ 1,212 $

Hedging res erve Note 13(e)

The a ccompa nyi ng notes a re a n integra l pa rt of thes e a nnua l cons oli da ted fi na nci a l s ta tements .
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014
(Tabular dollar amounts in thousands of US dollars, except per share amounts and number of shares)

1.

Nature of business

Jaguar Mining Inc. (the “Company” or “Jaguar”) is a corporation continued under the Business Corporations Act
(Ontario) engaged in the acquisition, exploration, development and operation of gold producing properties in
Brazil. The address of the Company’s registered and principal executive office is 67 Yonge Street, Suite 1203,
Toronto, Ontario, M5E 1J8, Canada.
These consolidated financial statements of the Company as at and for the years ended December 31, 2015 and
2014 include the accounts of the Company and its wholly‐owned subsidiaries: Mineração Serras do Oeste Ltda.
(“MSOL”), Mineração Turmalina Ltda. (“MTL”) and MCT Mineração Ltda. (“MCT”). All significant intercompany
accounts and transactions have been eliminated on consolidation.

2.

Basis of preparation

a)

Statement of compliance

The Company’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as issued by the
IASB, effective as at December 31, 2015. IFRS comprises of International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”),
and interpretations issued by the IFRS Interpretations Committee (“IFRICs”) and the former Standards
Interpretations Committee (“SICs”). The Company’s significant accounting policies are described in note 3 of these
consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2015.
These consolidated financial statements were authorized for issuance by the Board of Directors on March 21,
2016.

b) Basis of measurement
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for some financial
instruments and liabilities associated with certain long‐term incentive plans and reclamation provisions, and the
senior secured convertible debentures, which are stated at fair value.
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Jaguar Mining Inc and its subsidiaries. All
intercompany balances, transactions, income and expenses, and profits or losses have been eliminated on
consolidation. We consolidate subsidiaries where we have the ability to exercise control.
c)

Functional and presentation currency

The functional currency of the Company and each of its subsidiaries is the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entities operate, which the Company has determined is the U.S. dollar. Determination
of functional currency requires certain judgements to determine the primary economic environment.
In line with the Company’s functional currency, these consolidated financial statements are presented in U.S.
dollars.

Jaguar Mining Inc.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014
(Tabular dollar amounts in thousands of US dollars, except per share amounts and number of shares)

d) Use of estimates and judgments
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make
estimates, judgments and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts
of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses
during the period. Actual results could differ from these estimates.
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.
Certain estimates, such as those related to the valuation of mineral exploration projects, recoverability of property
plant and equipment, recoverable taxes, deferred tax assets and liabilities, reclamation provisions, derivatives,
liabilities associated with certain long‐term incentive plans, measurement of inventory and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities depend on subjective or complex judgments about matters that may be uncertain.
Changes in those estimates could materially impact these consolidated financial statements.
The judgments that management has applied in the application of accounting policies and related estimates that
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in these consolidated financial statements are
discussed below:
(i) Unit of production depletion and amortization
The Company’s mineral exploration projects and mining properties are depleted and amortized on a unit‐of‐
production basis, using the expected amount of recoverable reserves. Changes to these estimates, which can
be significant, could be caused by a variety of factors, including future production differing from current
forecasts, expansion of mineral reserves through exploration activities, differences between estimated and
actual costs of mining and other factors impacting mineral reserves or the expected life of the mining
operation.
(ii) Inventory
Gold in process and ore in stockpiles are stated at the lower of average production cost and net realizable
value. Production costs charged to earnings include labour, benefits, material and other product costs. The
assumptions used in the impairment assessment of gold in process inventory include estimates of gold
contained in the ore stacked, assumptions of the amount of gold stacked that is expected to be recovered and
an assumed gold price expected to be realized when the gold is recovered. If these estimates or assumptions
prove to be inaccurate, the Company could be required to write‐down the recorded value of its work‐in‐
process inventory, which could reduce the Company’s earnings and working capital.
The nature of the leaching process inherently limits the ability to precisely monitor inventory levels. As a result,
the metallurgical balancing process is monitored and the engineering estimates are refined based on actual
results over time. The ultimate recovery of gold from a leach pad is not known until the leaching process is
concluded.
(iii) Mine reserve estimates
A mine reserve estimate is an estimate of the amount of product that can be economically and legally extracted
from the Company’s mining properties. In order to calculate reserve estimates, assumptions are required about
a range of geological, technical and economic factors, including: quantities, grades, production techniques,
recovery rates, production costs, transportation costs, commodity demand, commodity prices and exchange
rates. We estimate our ore reserves and mineral resources based on information compiled by qualified persons

Jaguar Mining Inc.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014
(Tabular dollar amounts in thousands of US dollars, except per share amounts and number of shares)

as defined in accordance with the Canadian Securities Administrators’ National Instrument 43‐101 Standards
of Disclosure for Mineral Projects requirements.
Estimates of mine reserves may change as estimates and assumptions change and as additional geological data
is generated during the course of operations. Changes in mine reserve estimates may affect carrying values of
the Company’s inventory, property, plant and equipment, mineral exploration projects, reclamation provisions
and deferred income taxes.
(iv) Capitalization of mineral exploration projects
The Company’s accounting policy for exploration costs results in certain items being capitalized according to
the expected recoverability of the projects. This policy requires management to make certain estimates and
assumptions as to future events and circumstances, in particular whether an economically viable extraction
operation can be established. Any such estimates and assumptions may change as new information becomes
available. If, after having capitalized the costs, a judgment is made that recovery of the costs is unlikely, the
relevant capitalized amount will be written off to earnings.
The recoverability of the amounts shown for mineral exploration projects is dependent on the existence of
economically recoverable reserves, the ability to obtain financing to complete the development of such
reserves and meet obligations under various agreements, and the success of future operations or dispositions.
If a project does not prove viable, all unrecoverable costs associated with the project net of any related existing
impairment provisions are written off.
(v) Production start date
The determination of the date on which a mine enters the production stage is a significant judgment since
capitalization of certain costs ceases upon entering production. As a mine is constructed, costs incurred are
capitalized and proceeds from incidental mineral sales prior to commencement of commercial production are
offset against the capitalized costs. This continues until the mine is available for use in the manner intended
by management, which requires significant judgment in its determination. The production start date
assessment impacts the commencement of amortization and depreciation.
(vi) Reclamation provision
The Company’s mining and exploration activities are subject to various laws and regulations governing the
protection of the environment. In general, these laws and regulations are continually changing and, over time,
becoming more restrictive which impacts the cost of retiring assets at the end of their useful lives. The
Company recognizes liabilities for reclamation provisions in the period in which they are incurred. A
corresponding increase to the carrying amount of the related asset, where one is identifiable, is recorded and
amortized over the life of the asset. Where a related asset is not easily identifiable with a liability, the change
in fair value over the course of the period is expensed. Over time, the reclamation provision will be increased
each period to reflect the interest element (accretion) reflected in its initial measurement at fair value, and will
also be adjusted for changes in the estimate of the amount, timing and cost of the work to be carried out.
The actual future expenditures may differ from the amounts currently provided if the estimates made are
significantly different than actual results or if there are future changes to environmental laws and regulations
that could increase the extent of reclamation and remediation work required to be performed by the Company.

Jaguar Mining Inc.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014
(Tabular dollar amounts in thousands of US dollars, except per share amounts and number of shares)

(vii) Stock‐based compensation
The Company includes an estimate of forfeitures, share price volatility, expected life and risk‐free interest rates
in the calculation of the liability for certain long‐term incentive plans. These estimates are based on previous
experience and may change throughout the life of an incentive plan. Such changes could impact the carrying
value of the deferred compensation liability, property, plant and equipment, mineral exploration projects,
inventory and earnings.
(viii) Determination of functional currency
The functional currency of the Company has been assessed by management based on consideration of the
currency and economic factors that mainly influence the Company’s gold sales, production and operating costs,
financing and related transactions. Changes to these factors may have an impact on the judgment applied in
the determination of the Company’s functional currency.
(ix) Capitalization of borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are identified for capitalization to property, plant and equipment construction projects until
such time that the constructed asset is substantially complete and ready for its intended use. Borrowing costs
related to specific borrowings are identified for capitalization to mineral exploration projects until such time
that the mine is substantially complete and ready for its intended use. Amounts to be capitalized are estimated
based on costs incurred to date and the interest rate of specific borrowings or the weighted average borrowing
costs of general borrowings. The judgment used to identify mines or assets that require capitalization of
borrowing costs could impact the carrying value of those assets, depletion and amortization and interest
expense.
(x) Identification of impairment
The Company considers, at each reporting date or whenever events or circumstances indicate the recoverable
amount may be less than the carrying amount, whether or not there has been an impairment of the capitalized
mineral exploration projects, or property, plant and equipment. For producing and non‐producing mining
properties, this assessment is based on the expected future cash flows to be generated from the asset.
Assumptions, such as gold price, discount rate, foreign exchange rate and expenditures underlying the fair
value estimates are subject to risks and uncertainties. If the Company determines there has been an
impairment because its prior estimates of discounted future cash flows have proven to be inaccurate, due to
reductions in the price of gold, increases in the costs of production, reductions in the amount of reserves
expected to be recovered or otherwise, the Company would be required to write‐down the recorded value of
its mineral explorations projects, or property, plant and equipment, which would reduce the Company’s
earnings and net assets.
(xi) Recoverable taxes
In Brazil, the Company is due refunds of certain taxes based on consumption, of which the timing of realization
is uncertain. If these recoverable taxes are not collected, it could reduce the carrying value of these assets.
Given limited methods available to recover these taxes and the length of time it takes to recover them,
management estimates their present value based on the manner and timing of expected recovery.
(xii) Deferred taxes
The Company recognizes the deferred tax benefit related to tax assets and tax losses to the extent recovery is
probable. Assessing the recoverability of deferred income tax assets requires management to make significant
estimates of future taxable profit and expected timing of reversals of existing temporary differences. To the
Jaguar Mining Inc.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014
(Tabular dollar amounts in thousands of US dollars, except per share amounts and number of shares)

extent that future cash flows and taxable profit differ significantly from estimates, the ability of the Company
to realize the deferred tax assets recorded at the balance sheet date could be impacted. In addition, future
changes in tax laws could limit the ability of the Company to obtain tax deductions in future periods from tax
assets and tax losses.
(xiii) Other provisions and contingent liabilities
On an ongoing basis, the Company is subject to various claims and other legal disputes, the outcomes of which
cannot be assessed with a high degree of certainty. A liability is recognized where, based on the Company’s
legal views and advice, it is considered probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle a present
obligation that can be measured reliably.
By their nature, these contingencies will only be resolved when one or more future events occur or fail to
occur. The assessment of such contingencies inherently involves the exercise of significant judgment of the
potential outcome of future events.

3.

Significant accounting policies

a)

Existing accounting policies

(i)

Basis of consolidation
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are included
in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control
ceases. The accounting policies of the subsidiaries have been changed when necessary to align them with the
policies adopted by the Company.

(ii)

Cash and cash equivalents
The Company considers deposits in banks, certificates of deposit and short‐term investments with remaining
maturities of three months or less at the time of acquisition to be cash and cash equivalents. Cash held on
deposit as security is classified as restricted cash.

(iii) Inventory
Gold in process and ore in stockpiles are stated at the lower of the average total production cost or net
realizable value. Production costs include direct labour, employee benefits, direct material and other direct
product costs including depletion and amortization. Net realizable value represents estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business, less any further costs expected to be incurred to completion.
Raw materials and mine operating supplies are stated at the lower of weighted average cost, and net
realizable value.
(iv) Property, Plant and Equipment (‘PP&E’)
Buildings, Plant & Equipment
At acquisition, we record buildings, plant and equipment at cost, including all expenditures incurred to
prepare an asset for its intended use. These expenditures consist of: the purchase price; brokers’
commissions; and installation costs including architectural, design and engineering fees, legal fees, survey
Jaguar Mining Inc.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014
(Tabular dollar amounts in thousands of US dollars, except per share amounts and number of shares)

costs, site preparation costs, freight charges, transportation insurance costs, duties, testing and preparation
charges. We capitalize costs that meet the asset recognition criteria. Costs incurred that do not extend the
productive capacity or useful economic life of an asset are considered repairs and maintenance expense and
are accounted for as a cost of the inventory produced in the period.
Buildings, plant and equipment are depreciated over their expected useful life, which commences when the
assets are considered available for use. Once buildings, plant and equipment are considered available for use
they are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and applicable impairment losses. Depreciation on
equipment utilized in the development of assets, including underground mine development, is recapitalized
as development costs attributable to the related asset.
Leasing Arrangements
The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the substance of the
arrangement at inception date, including whether the fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent on the
use of a specific asset or assets or whether the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset.
Leasing arrangements that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to the
Company are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are recorded as an asset with a corresponding
liability at an amount equal to the lower of the fair value of the leased property and the present value of the
minimum lease payments. Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance costs using the
effective interest method, whereby a constant rate of interest expense is recognized on the balance of the
liability outstanding.
The interest element of the lease is charged to the consolidated statement of income as a finance cost. PP&E
assets acquired under finance leases are depreciated, over the shorter of the useful life of the asset and the
lease term. All other leases are classified as operating leases. Operating lease payments are recognized as an
operating cost in the consolidated statements of income on a straight‐line basis over the lease term.
Construction‐in‐progress
Assets under construction at operating mines are capitalized as construction‐in‐progress (“CIP”). The cost of
CIP comprises its purchase price and any costs directly attributable to bringing it into working condition for
its intended use. Construction‐in‐progress amounts related to development projects are included in the
carrying amount of the development project.
Construction‐in‐progress amounts incurred at operating mines are presented as a separate asset within
PP&E. Construction‐in‐progress also includes deposits on long lead items. Construction‐in‐progress is not
depreciated. Depreciation commences once the asset is complete and available for use.
Depreciation
Depreciation methods and rates for significant categories of non‐current assets are as follows:
Processing plants
Vehicles
Equipment
Leasehold improvements
Mining properties

‐ over plant life, straight‐line basis
‐ 5 years, straight‐line basis
‐ 5 ‐10 years, straight‐line basis
‐ over term of lease, straight‐line basis
‐ unit‐of‐production method (1)

(1) Depletion

of mining properties and amortization of pre‐production and development costs are calculated and recorded on the unit‐
of‐production basis over the mine’s estimated and economically proven and probable reserves.

Jaguar Mining Inc.
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When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for
as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment. Amortization is adjusted
prospectively if there is a change in useful lives, reserve base or residual values.
(v)

Underground Mine Development Costs
At our underground mines, we incur development costs to build new drifts and ramps that will enable us to
physically access ore underground. The time over which we will continue to incur these costs depends on the
mine life. These underground development costs are capitalized as incurred.
Capitalized underground development costs incurred to enable access to specific ore blocks or areas of the
underground mine, and which only provide an economic benefit over the period of mining that ore block or
area, are depreciated on a units of production basis, whereby the denominator is estimated ounces of gold
in proven and probable reserves and the portion of resources within that ore block or area that is considered
probable of economic extraction.

(vi) Impairment
The carrying value of all categories of property, plant and equipment and mineral exploration projects are
reviewed at each reporting date for impairment or whenever events or circumstances indicate the
recoverable amount may be less than the carrying amount. The recoverable amount is the greater of its
value‐in‐use and its fair value less cost of disposal.
Value‐in‐use is based on estimates of discounted future cash flows expected to be recovered from an asset
or the smallest group of assets that largely generates independent cash inflows (cash generating units or
“CGUs”) through their use. Estimated future cash flows are calculated using estimates of future recoverable
reserves and resources, future commodity prices and expected future operating and capital costs. Once
calculated, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.
Fair value less cost of disposal is the amount obtainable from the sale of an asset or CGU in an arm’s length
transaction between knowledgeable, willing parties, less the costs of disposal. Costs of disposal are
incremental costs directly attributable to the disposal of an asset or CGU, excluding finance costs and income
tax expense.
An impairment loss is recognized when the carrying value of an asset held for use exceeds its estimated
recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognized in respect of CGUs are allocated to reduce the carrying
amounts of the other assets in the unit on a pro‐rata basis. Impairment losses are recognized in operating
expenses. Impairment charges are recorded in the reporting period in which determination of impairment is
made by management.
Impairment losses recognized in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that
the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount and only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depletion or amortization, if
no impairment loss had been recognized.

Jaguar Mining Inc.
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(vii) Income taxes:
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred income taxes. Income tax expense is recognized in the
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss) except to the extent that it relates
to items recognized directly in equity.
Current income taxes
Current income taxes are the expected taxes payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year,
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to taxes payable
in respect of previous years.
Deferred income taxes
The Company accounts for deferred income taxes under the asset and liability method. Under this method
of tax allocation, deferred income and mining tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences
between the financial statement carrying values and their respective income tax bases (temporary
differences).
Deferred income taxes are measured using the tax rates that are expected to be in effect when the temporary
differences are likely to reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
reporting date. The effect on deferred income tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is included in
earnings in the period in which the change is substantively enacted. The amount of deferred income tax
assets recognized is limited to the amount that is probable to be realized.
(viii) Reclamation provisions
Mining, extraction and processing activities normally give rise to obligations for environmental rehabilitation
or reclamation. Reclamation work can include facility decommissioning and dismantling; removal or
treatment of waste materials; site and land rehabilitation, including compliance with and monitoring of
environmental regulations; security and other site‐related costs required to perform the rehabilitation work;
and operation of equipment designed to reduce or eliminate environmental effects. The extent of work
required and the associated costs are dependent on the requirements of relevant authorities and our
environmental policies.
Routine operating costs that may impact the ultimate closure and reclamation activities, such as waste
material handling conducted as an integral part of a mining or production process, are not included in the
provision. Costs arising from unforeseen circumstances, such as the contamination caused by unplanned
discharges, are recognized as an expense and liability when the event that gives rise to an obligation occurs
and reliable estimates of the required reclamation costs can be made.
Provisions for the cost of each reclamation program are normally recognized at the time that an
environmental disturbance occurs or a constructive obligation is determined. When the extent of disturbance
increases over the life of an operation, the provision is increased accordingly. The major parts of the carrying
amount of provisions relate to tailings pond closure/reclamation; demolition of buildings/mine facilities;
ongoing water treatment; and ongoing care and maintenance and security of closed mines. Costs included in
the provision encompass all closure and reclamation activity expected to occur progressively over the life of
the operation at the time of closure and post‐closure in connection with disturbances as at the reporting
date. Estimated costs included in the determination of the provision reflect the risks and probabilities of
alternative estimates of cash flows required to settle the obligation at each particular operation. The
expected reclamation costs are estimated based on the cost of external contractors performing the work or
the cost of performing the work internally depending on management’s intention.
Jaguar Mining Inc.
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The timing of the actual rehabilitation expenditure is dependent upon a number of factors such as the life
and nature of the asset, the operating license conditions and the environment in which the mine operates.
Expenditures may occur before and after closure and can continue for an extended period of time depending
on rehabilitation requirements. Rehabilitation provisions are measured at the expected value of future cash
flows, which exclude the effect of inflation, discounted to their present value using a current US dollar real
risk‐free pre‐tax discount rate. The unwinding of the discount, referred to as accretion expense, is included
in finance costs and results in an increase in the amount of the provision. Provisions are updated each
reporting period for changes to expected cash flows and for the effect of changes in the discount rate, and
the change in estimate is added or deducted from the related asset and depreciated over the expected
economic life of the operation to which it relates. Significant judgments and estimates are involved in forming
expectations of future activities and the amount and timing of the associated cash flows. Those expectations
are formed based on existing environmental and regulatory requirements or, if more stringent, our
environmental policies which give rise to a constructive obligation.
When provisions for closure and rehabilitation are initially recognized, the corresponding cost is capitalized
as an asset, representing part of the cost of acquiring the future economic benefits of the operation. The
capitalized cost of closure and rehabilitation activities is recognized in PP&E and depreciated over the
expected economic life of the operation to which it relates.
Adjustments to the estimated amount and timing of future closure and rehabilitation cash flows are a normal
occurrence in light of the significant judgments and estimates involved. The principal factors that can cause
expected cash flows to change are: the construction of new processing facilities; changes in the quantities of
material in reserves and resources with a corresponding change in the life of mine plan; changing ore
characteristics that impact required environmental protection measures and related costs; changes in water
quality that impact the extent of water treatment required; changes in discount rates; changes in foreign
exchange rates and changes in laws and regulations governing the protection of the environment.
Rehabilitation provisions are adjusted as a result of changes in estimates and assumptions. Those
adjustments are accounted for as a change in the corresponding cost of the related assets, including the
related mineral property, except where a reduction in the provision is greater than the remaining net book
value of the related assets, in which case the value is reduced to nil and the remaining adjustment is
recognized in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss).
In the case of closed sites, changes in estimates and assumptions are recognized immediately in the
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss). For an operating mine, the
adjusted carrying amount of the related asset is depreciated prospectively. Adjustments also result in
changes to future finance costs.
(ix) Legal and other provisions
Provisions are recorded when a legal or constructive obligation exists as a result of past events where it is
probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation,
and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made. The amount recognized as a provision
is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation estimated at the end of
each reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation and is
measured using the present value of cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation.
Certain conditions may exist as of the date the financial statements are issued, which may result in a loss to
the Company, but which will only be resolved when one or more future events occur or fail to occur. In
assessing loss contingencies related to legal proceedings that are pending against us or un‐asserted claims
that may result in such proceedings, the Company with assistance from its legal counsel evaluate the
Jaguar Mining Inc.
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perceived merits of any legal proceedings or un‐asserted claims as well as the perceived merits of the amount
of relief sought or expected to be sought. If the assessment of a contingency suggests that a loss is probable,
and the amount can be reliably estimated, then a loss is recorded. When a contingent loss is not probable
but is reasonably possible, or is probable but the amount of loss cannot be reliably estimated, and then details
of the contingent loss are disclosed. Loss contingencies considered remote are generally not disclosed unless
they involve guarantees, in which case we disclose the nature of the guarantee. Legal fees incurred in
connection with pending legal proceedings are expensed as incurred. Contingent gains are only recognized
when the inflow of economic benefits is virtually certain.
(x)

Foreign currency translation
The U.S. dollar is considered to be the functional currency of the Company and of its subsidiaries. Monetary
assets and liabilities of the Company's operations are translated into U.S. dollars at the rate of exchange in
effect at the balance sheet date, and non‐monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the historical rate
of exchange. Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the actual rates of exchange. Foreign
currency gains and losses are recognized in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive
income (loss).

(xi) Revenue recognition
We record revenue when evidence exists that all of the following criteria are met:






The significant risks and rewards of ownership of the product have been transferred to the buyer;
Neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership, nor
effective control over the goods sold, has been retained;
The amount of revenue can be reliably measured;
It is probable that the economic benefits associated with the sale will flow to us; and
The costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the sale can be reliably measured.

The Company produces gold doré which is further refined by a third party. Revenue from gold doré is
recognized when title is transferred, delivery is completed, and when the Company has reasonable assurance
with respect to measurement and collectability.
(xii) Stock‐based compensation
The Company has stock‐based compensation plans, which are described in Note 13(b)(c). The Company
accounts for all equity‐settled stock‐based payments based on the fair value of the award on grant date.
Under the fair value based method, compensation cost attributable to options granted is measured at fair
value at the grant date and amortized over the vesting period. The amount recognized as an expense is
adjusted to reflect any changes in the Company’s estimate of the shares that will eventually vest and the
effect of any non‐market vesting conditions.
Share‐based payment arrangements in which the Company receives goods or services as consideration are
measured at the fair value of the good or service received, unless that fair value cannot be estimated reliably.
(xiii) Earnings (loss) per share
Basic earnings (loss) per share is computed by dividing the net income (loss) available to common
shareholders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. The dilutive
effect of outstanding options and their equivalents are reflected in diluted earnings (loss) per share by the
Jaguar Mining Inc.
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application of the treasury method. The computation of diluted earnings (loss) per share assumes conversion,
exercise or contingent issuance of securities only when such conversion, exercise or issuance would have a
dilutive effect on earnings per share.
(xiv) Financial instruments ‐ recognition and measurement:
The Company classifies all financial instruments as held‐to‐maturity, fair value through profit & loss
(“FVTPL”), loans and receivables, available‐for‐sale, or other financial liabilities.
 Held‐to‐maturity financial assets are initially recognized at their fair values and subsequently measured
at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Impairment losses are charged to earnings in the
period in which they arise.
 FVTPL financial instruments are carried at fair value with changes in fair value charged or credited to
earnings in the period in which they arise.
 Loans and receivables are initially recognized at their fair values, with any resulting premium or discount
from the face value being amortized to earnings using the effective interest method. Impairment losses
are charged to earnings in the period in which they arise.
 Available‐for‐sale financial instruments are carried at fair value with changes in the fair value charged or
credited to other comprehensive income (loss). Impairment losses are charged to earnings in the period
in which they arise.
 Other financial liabilities are initially measured at cost or amortized cost, net of transaction costs and any
embedded derivatives that are not closely related to the financial liability, depending upon the nature of
the instrument with any resulting premium or discount from the face value being amortized to earnings
using the effective interest method.
 The following is a summary of the financial instruments outstanding and classifications as at December
31, 2015:
Cash and cash equivalents
Other accounts receivable
Derivative assets and liabilities
Restricted cash
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Notes payable (excluding Convertible Debentures)
Other provisions
Convertible debentures

‐ Loans and receivables
‐ Loans and receivables
‐ FVTPL
‐ Loans and receivables
‐ Other financial liabilities
‐ Other financial liabilities
‐ Other financial liabilities
‐ FVTPL

The Company has used certain derivative financial instruments, principally forward sales contracts and
commodity option contracts to manage commodity price exposure on gold sales, and forward foreign
exchange contracts to manage exposure to changes in foreign exchange rates. Derivative financial
instruments are used for risk management purposes and not for generating trading profits. Derivative
instruments are recorded at fair value. Changes in the fair values of derivative instruments are recognized in
interest income/expense in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss) with
the exception of derivatives designated as effective cash flow hedges.
For cash flow hedges that qualify under the hedging requirements of IAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement (“IAS39”), the effective portion of any gain or loss on the hedging instrument
Jaguar Mining Inc.

15

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014
(Tabular dollar amounts in thousands of US dollars, except per share amounts and number of shares)

is recognized in OCI and the ineffective portion is reported as an unrealized gain (loss) on derivatives contracts
in the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss.
Unrealized gains and losses on forward sales contracts are a result of the difference between the forward
spot price of the gold and the forward sales contract price. Unrealized gains and losses on forward foreign
exchange contracts are primarily a result of the difference between the forward currency contract price and
the spot price of the Brazilian reais (R$).
(xv) Borrowing costs
We capitalize interest or borrowing costs for qualifying assets. Qualifying assets are assets that require a
significant amount of time to prepare for their intended use, including projects that are in the exploration
and evaluation, development or construction stages. Qualifying assets also include significant expansion
projects at our operating mines. Capitalized interest costs are considered an element of the cost of the
qualifying asset which is determined based on gross expenditures incurred on an asset. Capitalization ceases
when the asset is substantially complete or if active development is suspended or ceases.
Where the funds used to finance a qualifying asset form part of general borrowings, the amount capitalized
is calculated using a weighted average of rates applicable to the relevant borrowings during the period.
Where funds borrowed are directly attributable to a qualifying asset, the amount capitalized represents the
borrowing costs specific to those borrowings. Where surplus funds available out of money borrowed
specifically to finance a project are temporarily invested, the total capitalized interest is reduced by income
generated from short‐term investments of such funds.

b) Accounting standards issued but not yet effective
The following are new pronouncements approved by the IASB. These new standards are not yet effective and
have not been applied in preparing these financial statements, however, they may impact future periods:


IFRS 9 Financial Instruments ‐ In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments,
bringing together the classification and measurement, impairment and hedge accounting phases of the IASB’s
project to replace IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. The mandatory effective date
of IFRS 9 would be annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with early adoption permitted. The
impact of IFRS 9 on the Company’s financial instruments has not yet been determined.



In May 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers, which covers principles that
an entity shall apply to report useful information to users of financial statements about the nature, amount,
timing, and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from a contract with a customer. In September
2015, the IASB deferred the effective date of the standard to annual reporting periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2018, with earlier application permitted. We are currently assessing the impact on our consolidated
financial statements along with timing of our adoption of IFRS 15. The impact of IFRS 15 on the Company’s
annual audited consolidated financial statements has not yet been determined.



In January 2016, the IASB issued IFRS 16 Leases, which requires lessees to recognize assets and liabilities for
most leases. Application of the standard is mandatory for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2019, with earlier application permitted, provided the new revenue standard, IFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers, has been applied or is applied at the same date as IFRS 16. The impact of IFRS
16 on the Company’s annual audited consolidated financial statements has not yet been determined.
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4.

Inventory

Inventory is comprised of the following:

Raw material
Mine operating supplies
Ore in stockpiles
Gold in process
Unrefined gold at refinery
Finished goods (gold bullion)

December 31, December 31,
2015
2014
$
2,638 $
2,524
3,569
6,472
1,160
258
2,285
3,664
2,386
4,456
‐
1,801

Total Inventory

$
Three Months Ended
2015
2014

Inventory amounts recorded in cost of sales
$
Depreciation and Amortization related to inventory not included above

Inventory write down

5.

$

‐

$

12,038

$

19,175

Year Ended
2015
2014
60

Three Months Ended
September 30,
2015
2014
‐
$
214

$

$

70,301
16,519

$

88,324
30,521

Year Ended
December 31,
2015
2014
35 $
1,566

Recoverable taxes
December 31,
2014 Additions Accretion

Value added taxes and other
2
Provision for VAT and other
Net VAT and other taxes
3

1

$
$

Applied to
Tax refunded taxes payable

Foreign
exchange

December 31,
2015

26,659 $
(7,515)
19,144 $

6,349 $
(568)
5,781 $

‐ $
987
987 $

(7,667) $
‐
(7,667) $

(5,231) $ (10,261) $
‐
2,648
(5,231) $ (7,613) $

9,849
(4,448)
5,401

3,498 $
(123)
3,375 $
9,156 $

‐
‐
‐
987

‐
$
‐
‐
$
(7,667) $

(123) $ (5,654) $
‐
510
(123) $ (5,144) $
(5,354) $ (12,757) $

12,807
(1,861)
10,946
16,347

ICMS
3
Reserve for ICMS
Net ICMS
Total recoverable taxes

$
$

15,086 $
(2,248)
12,838 $
31,982 $

Less: current portion
Non‐current portion

$

10,614
21,368

$

3,161
13,186

Receivable from sales of
ICMS tax credits 4

$

889

$

693

$

$
$
$
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December 31, Additions/
2013 Reversals
Value added taxes and other
Provision for VAT and other
Net VAT and other taxes
3

1

$

2

$

43,641

$

6,987

(26,701)
16,895
16,940 $ 23,882

December 31,
2014

$

(2,009) $

(17,059) $

(4,901) $

26,659

$

‐
(2,009) $

‐
(17,059) $

2,291
(2,610) $

(7,515)
19,144

$

14,527

$

(637) $

(996) $

(2,201) $

15,086

$
$

(2,262)
(134)
12,265 $ 4,259 $
29,205 $ 28,141 $

‐
(637) $
(2,646) $

‐
(996) $
(18,055) $

148
(2,053) $
(4,663) $

(2,248)
12,838
31,982

Less: current portion
Non‐current portion

$

3,985
25,220

$

5,866

3

4,393

Foreign
exchange

Reserve for ICMS
Net ICMS
Total recoverable taxes

ICMS

$

Write‐off
and sales of
Applied to
credits taxes payable

10,614
21,368

Receivable from sales of
ICMS tax credits

4

$

889

1) The Company is required to pay certain taxes in Brazil that are based on purchases of consumables and
property, plant and equipment. These taxes are recoverable from the Brazilian tax authorities through various
methods, including as cash refund or as a credit against current taxes payable.
2) The Company recorded a provision against its recoverable taxes given limited methods available to recover
such taxes and the length of time it will take to recover such taxes. The provision reduces the net carrying
amount of value added taxes and other taxes to their estimated present value based on the manner and timing
of expected recovery, discounted at a rate of 14.15% (Brazilian Central Bank’s Selic rate) (12.95% in 2014).
During 2014, the Company initiated procedures to obtain approval and/or refund of R$29.1 million (equivalent
to $10.5 million) of Federal VAT input tax credits with respect to the years 2009 through 2011 for its MTL
operating subsidiary. MTL is the operating subsidiary for the Turmalina Mine.
Following an extensive audit process by the Brazilian tax authorities, which was concluded in December 2014,
81.6% of the input tax credits were approved for refund. Out of the approved amount, 29.7% was applied as a
credit to reduce other federal taxes payable for the years 2012 through 2014, while R$16.7 million
(approximately $6.0 million) was refunded in cash to the Company, on February 6, 2015. The Company plans
to request additional approvals and refunds of Federal VAT input tax credits for MTL for the years 2012 through
2015.
Separately, the Company also continues to pursue approval of Federal VAT input tax credits with respect to
the years 2009 through 2011 for its MSOL operating subsidiary. MSOL is the operating subsidiary for the Caeté
complex comprising the Pilar and Roça Grande mines. Additionally the Company plans to request additional
approvals and refunds of Federal VAT input tax credits for MSOL for the years 2012 through 2015.
3) ICMS – Imposto sobre circulação de mercadorias e prestação de serviços is a type of value added tax which can
either be sold to other companies (usually at a discount rate of approximately 13%) or be used to purchase
specified machinery and equipment. The ICMS credits can only be realized in the state where they were
generated; in the case of Jaguar, in the State of Minas Gerais, Brazil.
4) Recorded as part of Other assets is $693,000 related to ICMS tax credits sold to and still receivable from other
companies (December 31, 2014 ‐ $889,000).
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6.

Property, plant and equipment (“PP&E”)

Plant
Cost
Ba l a nce a s a t Ja nua ry 1, 2015
Addi ti ons
Di s pos a l s
Recl a s s i fy wi thi n PP&E
Balance as at December 31, 2015

$ 13,495
‐
‐
‐
$ 13,495

1

Vehicles Equipment Leasehold

CIP

2

Mining
properties

Total

$11,522 $ 229,701 $
65
2,018
(468)
(465)
443
1,009
$11,562 $ 232,263 $

2,380
‐
‐
‐
2,380

$ 2,476 $ 353,616 $ 613,190
1,760
15,417
19,260
‐
(320)
(1,253)
(1,452)
‐
‐
$ 2,784 $ 368,713 $ 631,197

Ba l a nce a s a t Ja nua ry 1, 2014
$ 15,717 $13,793 $ 230,879 $
Addi ti ons
‐
449
3,182
Di s pos a l s
(3,755) (2,797)
(5,429)
Tra ns fer from a s s ets hel d for s a l e
1,533
77
1,069
Recl a s s i fy wi thi n PP&E
‐
‐
‐
Ba l a nce a s a t December 31, 2014
$ 13,495 $11,522 $ 229,701 $

2,380
‐
‐
‐
‐
2,380

$ 3,150 $ 333,731 $ 599,650
2,351
21,667
27,649
(346)
‐
(12,327)
(2,679)
‐
‐
‐
(1,782)
(1,782)
$ 2,476 $ 353,616 $ 613,190

Accumulated amortization and impairment charges
Ba l a nce a s a t Ja nua ry 1, 2015
$ 11,277 $
Amorti za ti on for the yea r
684
Impa i rment revers a l
(1,079)
Di s pos a l s
‐
Balance as at December 31, 2015
$ 10,882 $

1,923 $ 1,142 $ 323,398 $ 549,417
7
‐
7,615
14,966
(97)
(340)
(24,116)
(39,902)
‐
‐
(320)
(1,101)
1,833 $ 802 $ 306,577 $ 523,380

9,234 $ 202,443 $
548
6,112
(352)
(13,918)
(399)
(382)
9,031 $ 194,255 $

Ba l a nce a s a t Ja nua ry 1, 2014
Amorti za ti on for the yea r
Impa i rment l os s
Di s pos a l s
Ba l a nce a s a t December 31, 2014

$ 10,891 $ 9,575 $ 132,766 $
923
1,842
16,308
3,275
50
58,740
(3,812) (2,233)
(5,371)
$ 11,277 $ 9,234 $ 202,443 $

Carrying amounts
As at December 31, 2015
As at December 31, 2014

$ 2,613
$ 2,218

$ 2,531
$ 2,288

1

Refers to leasehold improvements in corporate office in Brazil.

2

Refers to Construction in progress.

$ 38,008
$ 27,258

$
$

1,459
464
‐
‐
1,923

547
457

$

‐
‐
1,142
‐
$ 1,142

$ 289,007
10,756
23,635
‐
$ 323,398

$ 443,698
30,293
86,842
(11,416)
$ 549,417

$ 1,982
$ 1,334

$ 62,136
$ 30,218

$ 107,817
$ 63,773

As at December 31, 2015, mining properties include the following properties which are in production, or are under
development:
a) Turmalina project
The terms of the acquisition of MTL included a royalty payable by the Company to an unrelated third party. The
royalty is a net revenue interest of 5% of annual net revenue up to $10.0 million and 3% thereafter.
b) Paciência Project ‐ Santa Isabel, Palmital, Marzagão, Rio de Peixe Oxide, Chame and Bahú mines
In November 2003, the Company closed a property acquisition agreement dated April 17, 2003 whereby the
Company acquired certain mineral rights from AngloGold for $818,000. The mineral rights acquired relate to the
following properties in the Paciência Project, Santa Isabel, Morro do Adão, Bahu and Marzagão and the following
Jaguar Mining Inc.
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properties in the Caeté Expansion Project, Catita and Camará. The Company will also pay a sliding scale Net smelter
royalty (“NSR”), from 1.5% to 4.5% of gross revenue, on gold and other precious metals produced from the
properties, based on precious metal prices at the time of production.
If the Company discovers, on a concession basis, in excess of 750,000 ounces of gold over the measured and
indicated resources used in the agreement, AngloGold has the right to buy‐in up to 70% of that concession for a
predetermined price. If this were to occur, the Company would retain a 30% interest and would receive the same
sliding scale NSR payment from AngloGold as the one mentioned above.
As at December 31, 2015 the carrying amount for the Paciência project is $nil, due to impairment charges
(December 31, 2014 ‐ $nil).
c) Caeté Project ‐ Roça Grande and Pilar mines
The Company is required to pay royalties of 0.5% of revenue to the land owners of the Pilar mine site.
d) Impairment and impairment reversal
The Turmalina, Paciência and Caeté projects are each cash generating units (“CGUs”) which include property, plant
and equipment, mineral rights, deferred exploration costs, and asset retirement obligations net of amortization.
The CGUs also include mineral exploration project assets relating to properties not in production such as mineral
rights and deferred exploration costs. A CGU is generally an individual operating mine or development project.
During the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company identified the significant increase in the reserve and
resource base of the Pilar gold mine, resulting in an extension of the life of mine (“LOM”), as an indicator of a
potential reversal to an impairment recognized against Caeté’s carrying value for the year ended December 31,
2014. Consequently, the Company performed an assessment to determine the recoverable amount of its mine
operations for a potential impairment reversal by comparing the carrying value of the Caeté project to the
discounted cash flows expected from the use and eventual disposition of those assets and liabilities. The
recoverable amount was determined to be the fair value less costs to dispose (“FVLCD”) and management’s
estimate of the FVLCD is classified as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in the valuation
technique.
The significant assumptions used in determining the recoverable amount of the project were LOM production
profiles, future gold prices, reserves and resources, discount rates, foreign exchange rates, and capital
expenditures. The estimates of future cash flows were derived from the most recent LOM plans which extend to
2019 for Pilar. LOM plans are typically developed annually and are based on management’s current best estimates
of optimized mine and processing plans, future operating costs, and capital expenditures. The Company bases its
future gold price estimate with reference to forward prices and industry analyst consensus. For the determination
of the impairment reversal, a gold price estimate of $1,150 was used for 2016, and $1,250 for 2017 and beyond.
A discount rate of 9.61% was used to present value the estimated future cash flows from the operation.
The assessment indicated that the discounted cash flows of the Caeté project exceeded the carrying value of the
project as at December 31, 2015, and consequently an impairment reversal of $44.0 million was recorded. The
impairment reversal for the year ended December 31, 2015 was allocated as follows: $39.9 million to property,
plant and equipment and $4.1 million to mineral exploration projects
For the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company identified the decrease in the long‐term gold price
assumption and an increase in cash operating costs as an indicator of a potential impairment of the carrying value
of the Caeté project. Consequently, the Company performed an assessment to determine the recoverable amount
of the Caeté project for a potential impairment by comparing the carrying value of the project to the discounted
cash flows expected from the use and eventual disposal of those assets and liabilities. For the determination of
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the impairment, a gold price estimate of $1,200 was used for 2015, and $1,300 for 2016 and beyond. A discount
rate of 9.87% was used to present value the estimated future cash flows from the operation. The assessment
indicated that the carrying value of the Caeté project exceeded the recoverable amount of the project as at
December 31, 2014, and consequently an impairment of $88.9 million was recorded. The impairment for the year
ended December 31, 2014 was allocated as follows: $86.8 million to property, plant and equipment and $2.1
million to mineral exploration projects.

7.

Mineral exploration projects

Balance as at January 1, 2015
Additions
Impairment charge
Impairment reversal
Balance as at December 31, 2015

Gurupi
Caeté Pedra Branca
Total
$ 68,139 $
‐ $
405 $ 68,544
494
‐
‐
494
(48,323)
‐
‐ (48,323)
‐
4,077
‐
4,077
$ 20,310 $ 4,077 $
405 $ 24,792

Balance as at January 1, 2014
Additions
Reclass from PP&E
Impairment charge

$ 67,494
645
‐
‐

$

‐ $
314
1,782
(2,096)

391
14
‐
‐

$ 67,885
973
1,782
(2,096)

Balance as at December 31, 2014

$ 68,139

$

‐ $

405

$ 68,544

a) Gurupi
Jaguar has a 100% equity ownership of MCT, which holds all of the mineral licenses for the Gurupi project, a gold
project located in the state of Maranhão, Brazil.
During the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company completed a review of the Gurupi project and
determined that the carrying amount of the asset was unlikely to be recovered in full from successful development
or by sale as the Company has no definitive plans to develop the project in the current and foreseeable economic
environment. The impairment test was carried out using market comparable values for the in‐situ ounces (i.e.
Total Enterprise Value per ounce), for companies with similar projects as Gurupi (low grade bulk tonnage, open
pit). Based on the results of the impairment test, the Company recorded an impairment charge of $48.3 million
related to the Gurupi project (December 31, 2014 ‐ $nil).
b) Caeté
The project includes the following properties: Pilar‐sulphide, Catita‐sulphide, Camará, Roça Grande, Serra Paraíso–
sulphide and Trindade. The Roça Grande and Pilar mines are included in property, plant and equipment. See Note
6(d) for the impairment reversal.
c) Pedra Branca
The Company is engaged in gold exploration at a green field site, the Pedra Branca Project (the “Project”), in the
State of Ceará in Northeastern Brazil, covering 87,000 acres. The Project previously was a joint venture with
Glencore Xstrata plc. (formerly known as Xstrata plc.) On March 7, 2012, Jaguar executed a binding Memorandum
of Understanding (“MOU”) with Glencore Xstrata plc. to acquire the remaining 40% interest in the Project. In
accordance with the terms of the MOU, Jaguar committed to (a) a cash consideration in the amount of $400,000;
(b) a NSR of 1.00% payable to Xstrata on future gold production; and (c) rights of first refusal on any Base Metal
Jaguar Mining Inc.
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Dominant Deposit (as defined in the MOU) discovered. Upon such discovery, Glencore Xstrata plc. may elect to
form a new company owned 30% by MSOL and 70% by Glencore Xstrata plc., by paying 300% of MSOL’s exploration
expenditures incurred exclusively on the relevant Base Metal Dominant Area of the property.

8.

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

Accounts payable (suppliers)
Accrued payroll
Interest payable
Other
Total accounts payable and accrued liabilities

9.

December 31, December 31,
2015
2014
$
7,516 $
9,212
5,086
6,483
211
72
178
282
$
12,991 $
16,049

Notes payable
December 31,
2015

December 31,
2014

Notes payable ‐ current portion
Bank indebtedness
Vale note

(a)

$

(b)

Renvest credit facility

(c)

13,126

$

14,954

456

458

‐
13,582

14,001
29,413

1,253

1,538

26,321
27,574

‐
1,538

Notes payable ‐ non‐current portion
Vale note

(b)

Senior Secured Convertible Debentures

(d)

Total notes payable

$

41,156 $

30,951

Fair value of notes payable

$

41,156

30,951

$

a) Bank indebtedness
As at December 31, 2015 bank indebtedness includes $13.1 million of unsecured promissory notes with maturities
from January 2016 to February 2016. The notes bear interest at 4.5% to 10.9% (2014 ‐ $14.8 million, maturing
from January 2015 to August 2015 at interest rates of 4.5% to 8.0%).
b) Vale note
The Vale note was generated in 2008, by the purchase of mineral rights regarding the Caeté Project for $13.3
million (“Vale Purchase Agreement”). Payment under the Vale Purchase Agreement was subject to satisfaction of
certain conditions including perfection of the transfer of the mineral rights before the Departamento Nacional de
Produção Mineral (“DNPM”). During 2010, the Company paid $3.2 million. In November 2014, the agreement was
amended whereby the Company agreed to waive certain mineral rights expected to be transferred under the
purchase agreement as they had not been duly conveyed. Accordingly, the outstanding indebtedness amount was
reduced from $9.0 million to $3.0 million, payable in twelve installments of $250,000, maturing December and
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July of every year, until fully paid in 2020. The first installment was paid in December 2014. The balance
outstanding as at December 31, 2015 was $2.3 million ($2.8 million as at December 31, 2014).
The note payable is recognized at its amortized cost of $1.7 million and the discount of $591,000, is being accreted
using the effective interest method.
c) Renvest Credit Facility
The Renvest Credit Facility was repaid using a portion of the proceeds of the Convertible debentures financing.
See Note 9(d).
d) Senior Secured Convertible Debentures
On October 27, 2015, the Company completed the issue of Senior Secured Convertible Debentures (the
“Debentures”) at a price of $1,000 per Debenture, for aggregate proceeds of $21.5 million. The Debentures will
mature after three years following the closing date and bear an interest rate of 12% per annum, payable in cash
on a quarterly basis, on the last day pf each quarter. The Debentures are convertible at the holder’s option into
common shares of the Company, at a ratio of 8,781 common shares per $1,000 of the principal amount. The
Debentures can be redeemed after completion of 12 months (“Call Date”), and prior to the maturity date, in cash
in whole or in part. The redemption price is 120% for one year after the Call Date, and 110% thereafter, plus in
each case the accrued interest to‐date. The Debentures include a general security agreement over all of the
Company’s and its subsidiaries’ present and future assets, delivery of the shares of the Company’s subsidiaries and
loan guarantees by the Company’s subsidiaries. Within 30 days following the occurrence of a Change of Control,
the Company shall be obligated to offer to purchase all of the Debentures then outstanding. The offer price shall
be 120% of the principal amount plus accrued interest to‐date if the payment date occurs prior to October 27,
2016, or 110% thereafter.
Under IFRS, the Debentures qualify as financial instruments and hence fall under the scope of IAS 39. Under IAS
39, an entity has the option to designate a financial instrument (financial asset or financial liability) to be measured
at fair value through profit or loss, provided such a designation results in more relevant information for the user
of the financial statements. This designation also requires that all the costs associated with the transaction should
be charged to the profit or loss on initial recognition. However, the option to designate is irrevocable, that is, an
entity cannot change this option subsequent to the initial recognition.
The Company has chosen to designate the Debentures as a liability to be measured at fair value through profit or
loss. Upon initial recognition, the Company recorded the Debentures as a financial liability, at their fair value of
$21.5 million which effectively is the amount received in consideration of the instrument. The transaction costs of
$2.1 million, which include $0.8 million of cash finder’s fee, $0.2 million of finder’s warrants (Note 13(b)) and $1.1
million of legal costs, were charged as an expense.
Subsequent to the initial measurement, at each reporting period the total financial liability is measured at fair
value. The debt portion of the liability is measured using a discounted cash flow model, while the conversion option
portion of the liability is measured using the Black‐Scholes model. The following inputs were used for both the
models as at December 31, 2015:
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Conversion option ‐ Black‐Scholes Model
Remaining contractual life (in years)
Volatility (%)
Risk free discount rate (%)
Share price at period end (Cdn$/share)
Conversion price (Cdn$/share)
Debt ‐ Discounted Cash Flow Model
Annual discount rate

Oct 27, 2015

Dec 31, 2015

3.00
60%
0.52%
0.12
0.15

2.83
60%
0.52%
0.165
0.15

27.40%

27.40%

The fair value of the financial liability of $4.8 million was recorded as an expense through profit or loss. All other
variables remaining the same, in subsequent periods a change in the share price, discount rate and reduction in
the remaining contractual life of the liability at each reporting period will cause a change in the fair value of the
financial instrument. An increase or decrease in the period‐end share price by Cdn $0.01 will result in an increase
or decrease in the fair value of the option by approximately $1.0 million. An increase or decrease in the period end
discount rate by 1% will result in an increase or decrease in the fair value of the debt by approximately $0.3 million.

10. Income taxes
a)

Income tax expense

The following table shows the components of current and deferred tax expense:

Current income tax expense (recovery)
Deferred income tax expense (recovery)
Total income tax expense (recovery)

December 31, December 31,
2015
2014
$
1,327 $
(9)
(3,634)
2,737
$
(2,307) $
2,728

b) Tax rate reconciliation
The provision for income taxes differs from that which would be expected by applying the combined Canadian
federal and provincial statutory income tax rate to income (loss) before income taxes. A reconciliation of the
difference is as follows:
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Income (loss) before income taxes
Combined federal and provincial income tax rate
Expected income tax expense (recovery)
Increase (decrease) in tax expense resulting from:
Foreign exchange on deferred taxes
Change in benefit of non‐capital losses not recognized
Change in benefit of other temporary differences not recognized
Difference in foreign tax rate and Canadian tax rate
Charged to OCI
Gain on debt extinguishment
Other non‐deductible (taxable) expense
Withholding tax on intercompany interest
Income tax expense (recovery)

c)

December 31, December 31,
2015
2014
$
(13,519) $
133,591
26.50%
26.50%
$
(3,583) $
35,402

$

37,571
(7,664)
(19,608)
(322)
(436)
‐
(8,303)
38
(2,307) $

18,653
(21,274)
26,373
(9,813)
‐
(44,471)
(2,508)
366
2,728

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets have not been recognized in respect of the following items:

Deductible temporary differences
Tax losses

December 31, December 31,
2015
2014
$
739,865 $
633,740
93,094
115,635

Deferred tax assets have not been recognized in respect of these items because it is not probable that future
taxable profit will be available against which the Company can utilize the benefits there from.
d) Tax losses
As at December 31, 2015, the Company's non‐capital losses that can be applied against future taxable profit
amount to $14.1 million and will expire in the years 2034 and 2035 (2014 ‐ $8.5 million).
The Company also has non‐capital losses of $95.1 million (equivalent to R$371.3 million) in Brazil which can be
carried forward indefinitely, however only 30% of taxable income in one year can be applied against the loss carry‐
forward balance.
e) Movement in net deferred tax liabilities

Balance at the beginning of the year ‐ January 1
Deferred income tax expense
Effect of unrealized gain on the derivative in OCI
Foreign exchange
Balance at the end of the year ‐ December 31

$

$

2015
8,338 $
(3,634)
436
(2,665)
2,475 $

2014
6,350
2,737
‐
(749)
8,338
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f)

Recognized deferred tax assets and liabilities

The following table summarizes the types of recognized deferred tax assets and liabilities:
December 31,
2015
Deferred tax assets
Non‐capital losses
Amounts not deductible until paid
Financing fees
Total deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities
Inventory
Property, plant and equipment
Unrealized foreign exchange gain
Deferred revenue
Total deferred tax liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities ‐ net

$

$
$

$
$

4,437
3,382
2,094
9,913

December 31,
2014
$

$

(8) $
(5,696)
(4,012)
(2,672)
(12,388) $
(2,475) $

4,196
2,480
32
6,708
(6)
(10,077)
(1,913)
(3,050)
(15,046)
(8,338)

11. Reclamation provisions

December 31, Additions
Foreign
2014 (Recovery) Accretion Payments exchange
Reclamation provision

$

21,374

Less: current portion
Non‐current portion

$

1,202
20,172

Reclamation provision

December 31, Additions
Foreign December 31,
2013 (Recovery) Accretion Payments exchange
2014
$
15,670 $ 4,822 $ 3,259 $ (650) $ (1,727) $
21,374

Less: current portion
Non‐current portion

$

826
14,844

$

(2,015) $

1,901

$

December 31,
2015

(339) $ (6,280) $

14,641

$

578
14,063

$

1,202
20,172

The reclamation provisions relate to the cost to reclaim land that has been disturbed as a result of mining activity.
The estimated future cash flows have been discounted using a rate of 10.5% and the inflation rate used to
determine future expected cost ranges from 4.3% to 7.0% per annum (December 31, 2014: 12.28% .
The impact of change in the reclamation provision at year end, resulted in a net recovery of $2.0 million. This
represents a $0.8 million addition to the reclamation liability and a recovery $2.9 million with the corresponding
charge to the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss) as the underlying assets
were impaired.
The Company expects to spend approximately $20.3 million (amount not discounted or adjusted for inflation)
which will be incurred between 2016 and 2029 to reclaim the areas explored (2014 ‐ $32.1 million).

Jaguar Mining Inc.

26

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014
(Tabular dollar amounts in thousands of US dollars, except per share amounts and number of shares)

12. Other provisions and liabilities
Various legal, environmental, tax and regulatory matters are outstanding from time to time due to the nature of
the Company’s operations. In the event that management’s estimate of the future resolution of these matters
changes, the Company will recognize the effects of the changes in its consolidated financial statements on the
date such changes occur.
As at December 31, 2015, the Company has recognized a provision of $19.3 million (December 31, 2014 ‐ $16.6
million) representing management’s best estimate of expenditures required to settle present obligations, as noted
in the table below. The ultimate outcome or actual cost of settlement may vary materially from management
estimates due to the inherent uncertainty regarding the Company’s estimates.

Labour litigation
Civil litigation
Other provisions

December 31,
2014
$
14,491 $
1,560
554
$
16,605 $

Less: current portion
Non‐current portion

Labour litigation
Civil litigation
Other provisions

Additions
(Reversals)
10,333 $
32
‐
10,365 $

Payments
(939) $
‐
(32)
(971) $

Foreign December 31,
exchange
2015
(6,071) $
17,814
(501)
1,091
(170)
352
(6,742) $
19,257

16,605
$

5,338

‐

December 31,
2013
$
5,156 $
1,861
968
$
7,985 $

$

Additions
(Reversals)
12,266 $
488
(370)
12,384 $

Payments
(2,104) $
(396)
(44)
(2,544) $

13,919

Foreign
December 31,
exchange
2014
(827) $
14,491
(393)
1,560
‐
554
(1,220) $
16,605

The additions in labour litigation included a change in the estimates of $2.8 million which had an impact in the
current period.
On July 30, 2013, Daniel R. Titcomb (“Titcomb”), the Company’s former President and Chief Executive Officer, and
a group of former officers, a former Director and a former related party (Brazilian Resources Inc. ‐ “BZI”, a company
of which Titcomb is a Director) (“Plaintiffs”), filed a complaint (the “Complaint”) in New Hampshire against the
Company and selected current and former directors (the “Named Directors”) of the Company. Among other items,
the Complaint alleges wrongful termination of Titcomb on December 6, 2011 and mismanagement of the strategic
review process regarding the possible change of control of Jaguar which ended May 8, 2012.
On November 21, 2013, the Company and the named directors filed motions to dismiss various aspects of the
Complaint on a number of grounds (the “Motions to Dismiss”).
On December 27, 2013, the Plaintiffs filed a motion to (i) stay the Complaint until the Ontario Superior Court of
Justice (Commercial List) lifts the stay in the CCAA proceeding or the CCAA proceeding is concluded; and (ii) stay
and suspend the deadline for the Plaintiffs to respond to the Motions to Dismiss. The Company and the Named
Directors did not object to this motion. An order granting the requested stay was issued by the U.S. District Court
for the District of New Hampshire on December 30, 2013.
On February 5, 2014, the Company entered into an agreement with the plaintiffs providing, among other things,
that upon implementation of the CCAA Plan, the plaintiffs shall have no right to, and shall not, make any claim or
seek any recoveries under the Complaint, other than enforcing such Plaintiffs’ rights, if any, to be paid from the
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proceeds of an enumerated company or director and officer insurance policy by the applicable insurers. The
Company agreed that, upon implementation of the CCAA Plan and if requested by the plaintiffs in the Complaint,
it would withdraw its counterclaims against the plaintiffs in the Complaint.
On April 22, 2014, the CCAA Plan was implemented, thereby giving effect to the February 5, 2014 agreement
between the Company and the Plaintiffs.
On August 15, 2014, as required by the Canadian settlement agreement, Titcomb filed an amended complaint
against the Company and the former directors named in the original suit in the federal court in New
Hampshire. That claim was intended to be limited to Titcomb’s employment claims, but Titcomb also included
aspects of the claims relating to the strategic review process. On September 30, 2014, the Company filed an
amended answer for the Company and the directors. Again, as required in the Canadian settlement, the Company
dropped its counterclaim. The Company has been informed that the Plaintiffs filed a Notice of Action with the
Ontario Superior Court of Justice (Commercial List) on May 7, 2014. The Notice of Action is subject to the terms
of the February 5, 2014 agreement and the CCAA Plan. The Complaint in the Canadian action was served in late
2014. No accrual has been recorded with respect to the Complaint or the Notice of Action.
On December 8, 2015, the Parties reached an agreement, ending any existing dispute between them, being both
Parties released and discharged of and from any obligations, duties, responsibilities, claims, liabilities and damages
of any nature or kind.

13. Capital stock
a) Common shares
The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of common shares. All issued shares are fully paid and
have no par value. Changes in common shares for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 are as follows:

Balance as at January 1, 2015
Shares issued1
Balance as at December 31, 2015

Number of
shares
111,111,038 $
25,000
111,136,038 $

Balance as at January 1, 2014
Share consolidation2
Shares issued in exchange for the Notes 2
Offering shares issued2
Accrued interest offering shares issued2
Backstop commitment shares issued2
Share issuance costs 2
Balance as at December 31, 2014

86,396,356
(85,396,429)
19,000,000
70,955,797
9,044,203
11,111,111
‐
111,111,038 $

Amounts
434,465
4
434,469
371,077
‐
13,388
50,000
6,373
7,830
(14,203)
434,465

1) On June 30, 2015 the Company issued 25,000 shares for 25,000 vested Deferred Share Units (“DSUs”), valued
at $4,000, to a former executive. This issuance was made pursuant to the redemption rules of vested DSUs
under the Company’s Deferred Share Unit Plan.
2) On December 23, 2013, the Company filed for creditor protection under the Companies’ Creditors
Arrangement Act (Canada) (the “CCAA”) in the Ontario Superior Court of Justice. On April 22, 2014, the
Company successfully implemented the CCAA Plan.
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The CCAA Plan implemented a series of steps leading to an overall capital reorganization of Jaguar. These
steps included, among other things:



The common shares of the Company issued and outstanding immediately prior to the implementation
of the CCAA Plan were consolidated at a ratio of one (1) post‐consolidation common share for each
86.39636 pre‐consolidation common shares (the “Consolidation”).
The Noteholders and certain other Affected Unsecured Creditors of the Company with proven claims
received their pro‐rata share of 14,000,000 common shares of the Company in exchange for their Notes
and in satisfaction of their claims, respectively, and Noteholders who signed the Support Agreement
received their pro rata share of an additional 5,000,000 common shares of the Company in exchange
for their Notes. Pursuant to the CCAA Plan, the Notes (and the indentures under which such Notes were
issued) have been irrevocably and finally cancelled and all unsecured claims of certain affected
unsecured creditors of the Company are fully and finally released.



Noteholders who participated in the Share Offering purchased up to their pro rata share of 70,955,797
common shares of the Company (collectively, the “Offering Shares”) and such Noteholders received
their pro‐rata share of 9,044,203 common shares of the Company (the “Accrued Interest Offering
Shares”) in exchange for their Notes.



Noteholders who backstopped the Share Offering pursuant to the Backstop Agreement purchased their
pro‐rata share (based on their backstop commitments) of the Offering Shares not subscribed for under
the Share Offering and received their pro rata share of an additional 11,111,111 common shares of the
Company (the “Backstopped Commitment Shares”) in exchange for their Notes.

b) Warrants
As part of the Senior Secured Convertible Debentures financing, disclosed on Note 9(d), the Company issued finder
warrants ("Finder Warrants"). The Finder Warrants have an exercise price of $0.15 per Common Share and expire
on October 27, 2018. An aggregate of 6,607,833 Finder Warrants were issued in connection with the Debentures
Financing, valued at $202,000.
c)

Stock options

In connection with the implementation of the CCAA Plan, equity based compensation arrangements existing
immediately prior to the implementation of the CCAA Plan, including the stock options were cancelled.
On April 22, 2014 the Board approved a new 10% rolling stock option plan (the “New Stock Option Plan”), which
was approved by disinterested shareholders of the Company at the Company's annual general meeting of
shareholders (“AGM”), held on June 25, 2014.
The following table shows the roll‐forward and the stock options outstanding as at December 31, 2015 and 2014:
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Weighted
Average Exercise
Price (Cdn$)
2,679,735 $
1.35
(400,000)
1.35

Number of
options

Stock Options
Balance as at January 1, 2015
Options forfeited1
2

Options granted
Balance as at December 31, 2015

7,000,000
9,279,735 $

Balance as at January 1, 2014
Options cancelled

1,604,028 $
(1,604,028)

0.98
0.98

2,679,735
2,679,735

1.35
1.35

3

Options granted
Balance as at December 31, 2014

$

0.22
0.50

1) Relates to the forfeiture of the options of a former executive, upon resignation in April 2015.
2) On December 16, 2015, the Company granted 7,000,000 options to the new CEO, which are each exercisable at
a price of Cdn$0.22 and expire December 16, 2020. The options vest on a quarterly basis at the end of each fiscal
quarter of the Company, in twelve equal instalments of 583,333.33 options over a three year period.
3) During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company granted 2,679,735 options to directors and employees
of the Company, which are each exercisable at a price of Cdn$1.35. The options granted in 2014 had the following
terms: 394,735 options expire May 12, 2022 and vest in two equal instalments on a yearly basis over a two year
period; 1,600,000 options expire May 12, 2022 and vest in twenty‐five equal instalments on a monthly basis over
a twenty‐four month period with one instalment vesting immediately (these stock options were forfeited
subsequent to December 31, 2015); 625,000 options expire October 8, 2019 and vest in four equal instalments on
a yearly basis over a three year period with one instalment vesting immediately (400,000 of these options were
forfeited in the year ended December 31, 2015); and 60,000 options expire October 27, 2019 and vest in four
equal instalments on a yearly basis over a three year period with one instalment vesting immediately.
The following table is a summary of stock options outstanding as at December 31, 2015 and 2014, the weighted
average grant date fair values and the assumptions used in the Black‐Scholes option pricing formula for options
granted in the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014:

Stock options 2015
Stock options 2014

Number of Exercise Dividend
Risk‐free Forfeiture Expected Volatility Fair value
rate life (years)
options
Price
yield interest rate
factor
USD
9,279,735
$ 0.50
‐
0.87%
0%
3.96
64%
$ 0.12
2,679,735
$ 1.35
‐
1.36%
0%
3.87
75%
$ 0.33

The stock options outstanding as at December 31, 2015 had a weighted average exercise price of Cdn$0.50
(December 31, 2014 – Cdn$1.35) and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 5.23 years (December 31,
2014 – 6.71 years). As at December 31, 2015, 1,619,865 stock options (December 31, 2014 – 683,250) were
exercisable at an average weighted exercise price of Cdn$1.35 (December 31, 2014 – Cdn$1.35).
For the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company recognized $319,000 in stock based compensation expense
for stock options in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss) (December 31,
2014 – $635,000).
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d) Deferred share units – “DSUs”
In connection with the implementation of the CCAA Plan, equity based compensation arrangements existing
immediately prior to the implementation of the CCAA Plan, including the DSU plan, which had been accounted for
as cash‐settled awards, were cancelled.
On April 22, 2014 the board of directors of the Company approved a new deferred share unit plan (the “DSU Plan”),
which was approved by disinterested shareholders of the Company at the Company's AGM in June 2014. The
purpose of the DSU Plan is to assist the Company in the recruitment and retention of qualified persons to serve as
employees of the Company and to align the interests of such employees with the long‐term interests of the
shareholders of the Company.
The Company has the option to settle the DSUs in cash or equity and has no expectation to settle any option in
cash, consequently, the plan is accounted for as equity‐settled. The fair value of the DSUs is established based on
market price of the Company’s common share at the grant date and the vesting period is generally from two to
three years.
The following table shows the roll‐forward and the DSUs outstanding as at December 31, 2015 and 2014:

Balance as at January 1, 2015
Units cancelled
Units granted1
Balance as at December 31, 2015

Weighted
Average Grant
Date Fair Value
1,600,566 $
0.81
(100,000)
0.64
3,000,000
0.06
4,500,566 $
0.31

Balance as at January 1, 2014
Units cancelled (CCAA plan implementation)
Issued during the period
Balance as at December 31, 2014

163,392 $
(163,392)
1,600,566
1,600,566 $

Number
of units

0.05
0.05
0.81
0.81

1) The Company has also granted 3,000,000 deferred share units to the new CEO, of which 1,500,000 shall vest if
and when the volume weighted average trading price of the common shares of the Company (the "Common
Shares") for 20 trading days ("VWAP") is equal to or exceeds Cdn$0.33, and the remaining 1,500,000 shall vest if
and when the VWAP is equal to or exceeds Cdn$0.44.
For the year ended December 31, 2015 the Company had recognized $479,000 in stock based compensation
expense for DSUs in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss) (December 31,
2014 ‐ $922,000).

e) Hedging reserve
The hedging reserve represents hedging gains and losses recognized on the effective portion of cash flow hedges.
The cumulative deferred gain or loss on the hedge is recognized in other comprehensive income until the
transaction is settled at which time the gain or loss is recognized in the consolidated statements of operations.
Included in the hedging reserve, in the consolidated statements of changes in shareholders’ equity for the year
ended December 31, 2015 is an unrealized gain of $1.2 million, net of $436,000 deferred income taxes (December
31, 2014 – unrealized loss of $197,000).
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An aggregate realized gain in the amount of $168,000 has been recorded in the consolidated statements of
operations and comprehensive income (loss) for the year ended December 31, 2015 (2014 – $140,000). The
following are the outstanding contracts as at December 31, 2015:
Settlement Date
January 31, 2016
Total

Ounces Hedged Average US$ per ounce
11,146 $
1,209 $
11,146 $
1,209 $

Unrealized gain
1,648
1,648

14. Basic and diluted earnings per share
Dollar amounts and share amounts in thousands, except per share amounts.
Three Months Ended
September 30,
2015
2014
Numerator
Net income (loss)
Adjustment
Convertible option Renvest Credit Facility
Net income (loss) for the purpose of diluted income (loss)
per share
Denominator
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding ‐
basic and diluted
Convertible option Renvest Credit Facility
Deferred share units
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding ‐
diluted
Basic and diluted income (loss) per share
Diluted income (loss) per share

Year Ended
December 31,
2015
2014

$ 1,670

$ (90,530)

$ (11,212)

$ 130,863

‐

‐

‐

172

$ 1,670

$ (90,530)

$ (11,212)

$ 131,035

111,136,038
‐
1,989,696

111,111,038
‐
‐

111,125,695
‐
‐

77,323,349
1,936,175
738,443

113,125,734
$ 0.02
$ 0.01

111,111,038
$ (0.81)
$ (0.81)

111,125,695
$ (0.10)
$ (0.10)

79,997,967
$ 1.69
$ 1.64

The determination of the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the calculation of diluted
earnings per share does not include the following effect of options, convertible debentures and deferred shares
units since they are anti‐dilutive:

Options
Convertible Debentures
Deferred share units
Antidilutive shares

Three Months Ended
September 30,
2015
2014
3,421,039

‐

‐
3,421,039

‐
‐

Year Ended
December 31,
2015
2014
2,690,694
1,853,218
35,328,878
‐
1,654,676
‐
39,674,248
1,853,218
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15. Production costs

Direct mining and processing costs
Royalty expense and CFEM taxes
Inventory write‐down
Reclamation recovery
Other
Depreciation
Total cost of sales

$

$

Three Months Ended
2015
2014
(14,554) $
(18,061)
(823)
(944)
(3)
(3,756)
Note 11
(17)
(747)
(3,628)
(6,778)
(19,025) $
(30,286) $

Year Ended
2015
2014
(67,138) $ (84,717)
(3,163)
(3,607)
(35)
(1,566)
2,903
‐
106
(541)
(16,519)
(30,521)
(83,846) $ (120,952)

16. Adjustment to legal provision and VAT taxes
Three Months Ended
September 30,
2015
Increases in legal provisions
$
40
Note 12 $
Changes in provision against recoverability of VAT and other taxes
Note 5
Total adjustment to legal provisions and VAT taxes
$
40
$

Year Ended
December 31,
2015
2014
10,365 $
13,600
568
(16,895)
10,933 $
(3,295)

17. Impairment charges
Three Months
Ended
Year Ended
December 31,
December 31,
2014
2013
2015
2014
$
‐
Note 6 $
(39,902)
‐
Note 6
‐
86,842
Note 7
(4,077)
‐
‐
Note 7
48,323
2,096
$
‐ $
‐ $
4,344 $
88,938

Impairment reversal on PP&E
Impairment change on PP&E
Impairment reversal on mineral exploration projects
Impairment charge on mineral exploration projects
Total impairment charges

18. Financial instrument gain

Gain on debt extinguishment
Gain on Vale note amendment
Gain on derivatives
Gain on conversion option embedded in convertible debt
Total financial instruments gain

$

$

Three Months Ended
September 30,
2015
2014
‐
$
‐ $
‐
‐
(133)
‐
‐
(287)
(133) $
(287) $

Year Ended
December 31,
2015
2014
‐ $ (265,566)
‐
(6,769)
(168)
(140)
(3)
(343)
(171) $ (272,818)
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19. Finance costs

Interest expense
Accretion
Transaction costs
Change in fair value of convertible debentures
Total finance costs

$

$

Three Months Ended
Year Ended
September 30,
December 31,
2015
2014
2015
2014
‐ $
(3) $
2,949 $
9,220
62
132
1,128
3,259
‐
Note 9(d)
2,035
‐
Note 9(d)
4,821
‐
62 $
129 $
10,933 $
12,479

20. Financial liabilities and other commitments
In the normal course of business, the Company enters into contracts that give rise to commitments for future
minimum payments. The following table summarizes the remaining undiscounted contractual maturities of the
Company’s financial liabilities and other commitments:
As at December 31, 2015
Financial Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Notes payable
Principal
Bank indebtedness
Vale Note
Convertible debentures
Interest payments
Other liabilities
Total financial liabilities
Other Commitments
Operating lease agreements
Suppliers' agreements

Less than 1 1 ‐ 3 years 3 ‐ 5 years More than
year
5 years
$

12,991

$

$

13,626
13,126
500
‐
2,900
‐
29,517

$

174

1

671

Mine operations
Other provisions and liabilities
2

Reclamation provisions
Total other commitments
Total

$
$

‐

$

‐

22,500
‐
1,000
21,500
4,730
‐
$ 27,230

$

750
‐
750
‐
‐
‐
750

$

$

$

‐

$

8

$

‐

$

‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐ $
‐

‐

‐

‐

5,338
597

13,919
4,354

‐
5,142

‐
10,246

6,780
36,297

$ 18,281
$ 45,511

5,142
5,892

$ 10,246
$ 10,246

$
$

Total

12,991
‐
36,876
13,126
2,250
21,500
7,630
‐
57,497

$

182
‐
671
19,257
20,339

$
$

40,449
97,946

1

The Company has the contractual right to cancel the mine operation contracts with 30 days advance notice. The
amount included in the commitments table represents the contractual amount due within 30 days.

2

For the purpose of this table of commitments, reclamation provisions are not adjusted for inflation and are not
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As at December 31, 2014
Financial Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Notes payable
Principal
Bank indebtedness
Vale Note
Renvest credit facility
Interest payments
Other liabilities
Total financial liabilities
Other Commitments
Operating lease agreements
Suppliers' agreements

Less than 1 1 ‐ 3 years 3 ‐ 5 years More than
year
5 years
$

16,049

$

29,854
14,954
500
14,400
1,068
61
47,032

$

208

1

‐

2

$
$

$

‐

$

‐

$

1,000
‐
1,000

1,000
‐
1,000

250
‐
250

$

‐
‐
1,000

$

‐
‐
1,000

$

‐
‐
250

$

$

98

$

‐

$

‐

$

923

Mine operations
Other provisions and liabilities
Reclamation provisions
Total other commitments
Total

$

Total

‐

‐

‐

16,605
1,342

‐
21,715

‐
3,422

‐
5,608

19,078
66,110

$ 21,813
$ 22,813

$
$

3,422
4,422

$
$

5,608
5,858

16,049
‐
32,104
14,954
2,750
14,400
1,068
61
49,282
306
‐
923
16,605
32,087

$
$

49,921
99,203

1

The Company has the contractual right to cancel the mine operation contracts with 30 days advance notice. The
amount included in the commitments table represents the contractual amount due within 30 days.
2

For the purpose of this table of commitments, reclamation provisions are not adjusted for inflation and are not
discounted.

21. Capital disclosures
The Company manages its capital structure in order to support the acquisition, exploration and development of
mineral properties, and to maximize return to stakeholders through a flexible capital structure which optimizes
the costs of capital and the debt and equity balance. The Company sets the amount of capital in proportion to risk
by managing the capital structure and making adjustments in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. To adjust or maintain its capital structure, the Company may adjust the
amount of long‐term debt, enter into new credit facilities or issue new equity.
The capital structure of the Company consists of notes payable (Note 9) and all of the components of shareholders’
equity.
The Company is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

22. Financial risk management and financial instruments
The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, including but not limited to: credit risk, liquidity
risk, currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk.
a) Credit risk
Credit risk associated with financial assets arises from cash held with banks, derivative financial instruments with
positive fair values and credit exposure to customers. The credit risk is limited to the carrying amount on the
statement of financial position.
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The Company is exposed to credit‐related losses in the event of non‐performance by counterparties to derivative
financial instruments, but does not expect any counterparties to fail to meet their obligations. The Company’s cash
and cash equivalents are held through large financial institutions in Brazil and Canada. The Company manages its
credit risk by entering into transactions with high‐credit quality counterparties, limiting the amount of exposure
to each counterparty where possible, and monitoring the financial condition of the counterparties.
b)

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial
liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The Company’s approach to managing this
risk is to ensure sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions,
without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage.
As at December 31, 2015, the Company had a working capital of $2.0 million and an accumulated deficit of $364.0
million. The Company realized a net loss for the year ended December 31, 2015 amounting to $11.2 million. The
Company’s financial liabilities and other commitments are listed in Note 20.
The Company undergoes an in‐depth budgeting process each year which is supplemented by a continuous detailed
cash forecasting process. Future financing requirements, if any, will depend on a number of factors that are
difficult to predict and are often beyond the control of the Company. The main factor is the realized price of gold
received for gold produced from the Company’s operating mines and the operating and capital costs of those
mines. Other key factors include the Company’s ability to continue to renew its Brazilian facilities and manage the
payment process relating to its Brazilian labour provisions.
c)

Derivative financial instruments

The Company assesses its financial instruments and non‐financial contracts on a regular basis to determine the
existence of any embedded derivatives which would be required to be accounted for separately at fair value and
to ensure that any embedded derivatives are accounted for in accordance with the Company’s policy.
The Company entered into forward contracts to hedge against the risk of declining gold prices for a portion of its
forecasted gold sales. The unrealized gain in the amount of $1.6 million is recorded as derivative assets (2014 –
an unrealized loss of $197,000 recorded as derivative liability). Included in the consolidated statements of
operations and comprehensive income (loss) are realized gains of $168,000 (2014 – realized gains of $140,000).
The outstanding contracts as at December 31, 2015 are disclosed on Note 13(e).
d) Currency risk
The Company is exposed to the financial risk related to the fluctuation of foreign exchange rates. Financial
instruments that impact the Company’s net earnings due to currency fluctuations include: Brazilian reais and
Canadian dollar denominated cash and cash equivalents, recoverable taxes, accounts payable and accrued
liabilities, income taxes payable, reclamation and other provisions, and deferred compensation liabilities.
The exposure of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities (and certain other assets and liabilities) to currency
risk is as follows, as at December 31, 2015:
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Denominated in
Brazilian reais
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Recoverable taxes
Other accounts receivable
Other assets
Total financial assets
Financial liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Other taxes payable
Reclamation provision
Other provision and liability
Total financial liabilities
Net financial assets/(liabilities)

$

$
$

$

2,546
15,118
398
3,143
21,205

Denominated in
Canadian dollars
$

$

144
1,228
‐
‐
1,372

11,197 $
104
14,641
19,257
45,199
(23,994) $

1,262
‐
‐
‐
1,262
110

The table below summarizes a sensitivity analysis for significant unsettled currency risk exposure with respect to
the Company’s financial instruments (and certain other assets and liabilities) as at December 31, 2015 and 2014
with all other variables held constant. It shows how income before taxes would have been affected by changes in
the relevant risk variables that were reasonably possible at that date.

Exchange Rates
USD per Brazilian reais
USD per Brazilian reais
USD per Canadian dollar
USD per Canadian dollar

Change for
Sensitivity Analysis
10% increase
10% decrease
10% increase
10% decrease

Gain/(loss) of change to Gain/(loss) of change to
2015 Foreign Exchange
2014 Foreign Exchange
$
2,181 $
2,176
(2,181)
(2,176)
(10)
(110)
10
110

e) Interest rate risk
The Company is potentially exposed to interest rate risk on its outstanding borrowings and short‐term
investments. The Company managed its risk by entering into agreements with fixed interest rates on 100% of its
debt with interest rates ranging from 0% to 12.0% per annum (2014 – 0% to 11.0% per annum).
f)

Price risk

The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to gold prices on gold production. The Company periodically
enters into hedge contracts to manage this risk. As at December 31, 2015, the Company had 11,146 ounces of gold
hedged (Note 13(e)) (2014 – 10,500 ounces).
g) Financial instruments
Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. In assessing the fair value of a particular
contract, the market participant would consider the credit risk of the counterparty to the contract. Consequently,
when it is appropriate to do so, the Company adjusts its valuation models to incorporate a measure of credit risk.
The fair value of the following financial assets and liabilities approximate their carrying amount due to the limited
term of these instruments:
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a.
b.
c.
d.

Cash and cash equivalent
Other accounts receivable
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Other provisions

Fair value estimation:
IFRS 7 Financial Instruments ‐ Disclosures prescribes the following three‐level fair value hierarchy for disclosure
purposes based on the transparency of the inputs used to measure the fair values of financial assets and liabilities:
a. Level 1 – quoted prices (unadjusted) of identical instruments in active markets that the reporting entity has
the ability to access at the measurement date.
b. Level 2 – inputs are quoted prices of similar instruments in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar
instruments in markets that are not active; inputs other than quoted prices used in a valuation model that are
observable for that instrument; and inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market
data by correlation or other means.
c. Level 3 – one or more significant inputs used in a valuation technique that are unobservable for the
instruments.
Determination of fair value and the resulting hierarchy requires the use of observable market data whenever
available. The classification of a financial instrument in the hierarchy is based upon the lowest level of input that
is significant to the measurement of fair value.
The fair value of the Company’s financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair value on a
recurring basis as at December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014 are as follows:
Level 1
December 31, 2015
Derivative assets
Convertible Debentures
December 31, 2014
Derivative liabilities

Level 2

Level 3

Note 13 $
Note 9(d)

‐
‐

$

1,648
26,321

$

‐
‐

Note 13 $

‐

$

197

$

‐

The valuation techniques that are used to measure fair value are as follows:
Derivative:
The fair value of derivative contracts is based on quoted market prices for comparable contracts and represents
the amount the Company would have received from, or paid to, a counterparty to unwind the contract at the
quoted market rates in effect at the consolidated balance sheet date and therefore derivative contracts are
classified within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.
Convertible debentures
The fair value of the convertible debentures is determined using the discounted cash flow model and Black‐Scholes
model, as disclosed on Note 9(d).
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23. Related party transactions
a)

Transactions with directors and key management

The Company transacts with key individuals from management and with its directors who have authority and
responsibility to plan, direct and control the activities of the Company. The nature of these dealings were in the
form of payments for services rendered in their capacity as director (director fees, including share‐based
payments) and as employees of the Company (salaries, benefits and share‐based payments).
Key management personnel are defined as the executive officers of the Company including the President and Chief
Executive Officer, Chief Operating Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Corporate Secretary.
During 2015 and 2014, remuneration to directors and key management personnel were as follows:


Compensation of directors

Compensation of directors comprised:

Fees earned and other compensation1
Share based compensation
Total compensation of directors

Year Ended
December 31,
2015
2014
$
459 $
518
69
197
$
528 $
715

(1) Fees earned and other compensation represents fees paid to the non‐executive chairman and the non‐executive directors during the
financial year.



Compensation of key management personnel

Compensation of key management personnel comprised:

Salary earned and other compensation
Share‐based compensation

Year Ended
December 31,
2015
2014
$
2,359 $
2,655
723
1,356
$
3,082 $
4,011

b) Other related party transactions
The Company incurred legal fees from Azevedo Sette Advogados (“ASA”), a law firm where Luis Miraglia, a director
of Jaguar is a partner. Fees paid to ASA are recorded at the exchange amount – being the amount agreed to by
the parties and included in administration expenses in the statements of operations and comprehensive loss – and
amount to $87,000 for the year ended December 31, 2015 (2014 ‐ $51,000).
The Company also incurred legal fees from Goodmans LLP (“Goodmans”), a law firm where Robert Chadwick, a
former director of Jaguar is a partner. Fees paid to Goodmans are recorded at the exchange amount ‐ being the
amount agreed to by the parties and included in administration expenses in the statements of operations and
comprehensive loss – and amount to $11,000 for the year ended December 31, 2015 (2014 ‐ $113,000).
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